IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

ANNE GIROUX,

Appellant,

v.

DANIEL KULMAN,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Diana L. Kiesel, Commissioner

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAN TRASEN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.
B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.
D. ARGUMENT
1. THE PURGE CONDITION IN THE CONTEMPT ORDER IGNORED MS. GIROUX'S INABILITY TO COMPLY WITH THE ORDER, TRANSFORMING THE FINDING OF CONTEMPT INTO A PUNITIVE SANCTION
2. MS. GIROUX WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHEN SHE RECEIVED A CRIMINAL CONTEMPT SANCTION WITHOUT CONSTITUTIONALLY REQUIRED PROTECTIONS
a. Ms. Giroux was denied her constitutional right to the assistance of counsel
b. Ms. Giroux was denied other constitutional rights associated with a criminal trial
c. Because Ms. Giroux was denied the protections provided in criminal proceedings, her contempt sanction and findings must be reversed
3. ALTHOUGH MS. GIROUX HAS SERVED THE CONTEMPT SANCTION IMPOSED, THIS COURT SHOULD NONETHELESS REACH THE MERITS OF HER CASE 24
a. Because this Court can provide effective relief, the case is not moot
b. This case presents an issue of continuing and substantial public interest
E. CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court

Arnold v. National Union of Marine Cooks & Stewards Ass'n, 41 Wn.2d 22, 246 P.2d 1107 (1952)
<u>In re Eaton</u> , 110 Wn.2d 892, 757 P.2d 961 (1988)
<u>In re Harris</u> , 98 Wn.2d 276, 654 P.2d 109 (1982)
<u>In re LaBelle</u> , 107 Wn.2d 196, 728 P.2d 138 (1986)
<u>In re King</u> , 110 Wn.2d 793, 756 P.2d 1303 (1988)
<u>In re Parent</u> , 112 Wn. 620, 192 P. 947 (1920)
<u>Keller v. Keller</u> , 52 Wn.2d 84, 323 P.2d 231 (1958)
Smiley v. Smiley, 99 Wash. 577, 169 P. 962 (1918)
Sorenson v. City of Bellingham, 80 Wn.2d 547, 496 P.2d 512 (1972) 24
<u>State ex rel. T.B. v. CPC Fairfax Hosp.</u> , 129 Wn.2d 439, 918 P.2d 497 (1996)
State v. Boatman, 104 Wn.2d 44, 700 P.2d 1152 (1985)
State v. Browet, Inc., 103 Wn.2d 215, 691 P.2d 571 (1984)
State v. Hobble, 126 Wn.2d 283, 892 P.2d 85 (1995)9
State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995)
State v. Sanchez, 4 Wn.2d 432, 104 P.2d 464 (1940)
<u>Tetro v. Tetro</u> , 86 Wn.2d 252, 544 P.2d 17 (1975) 18, 19, 20

Washington Court of Appeals

<u>In re Marriage of Didier</u> , 134 Wn. App. 490, 140 P.3d 607 (2006) 11, 12 14, 17
In re Marriage of Nielsen, 38 Wn. App. 586, 687 P.2d 877 (1984) 17
In re the Interests of M.B., et al, 101 Wn. App. 425, 3 P.3d 780 (2000), rev. denied, 142 Wn.2d 1027 (2001)
Seattle v. Johnson, 58 Wn. App. 64, 791 P.2d 266 (1990)
State ex rel Shafer v. Bloomer, 94 Wn. App. 246, 973 P.2d 1062 (1999) 12
State v. Heiner, 29 Wn. App. 193, 627 P.2d 983 (1981)
State v. Silva, 108 Wn. App. 536, 31 P.3d 729 (2001)
United States Supreme Court
<u>Argersinger v. Hamlin,</u> 407 U.S. 25, 92 S.Ct. 2006, 32 L.Ed.2d 530 (1972)
Bloom v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 194, 88 S.Ct. 1477, 20 L.Ed.2d 522 (1968) 16
Cooke v. United States, 267 U.S. 517, 45 S.Ct. 390, 69 L.Ed. 767 (1925)
<u>Gideon v. Wainwright,</u> 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963)
Gompers v. Bucks Stove & Range Co., 221 U.S. 418, 31 S.Ct. 492, 55 L.Ed. 797 (1911)16
Hicks v. Feiock, 485 U.S. 624, 108 S.Ct. 1423, 99 L.Ed.2d 721 (1988) 16
<u>In re Bradley</u> , 318 U.S. 50, 63 S.Ct. 470, 87 L.Ed. 608 (1943)
nt'l Union v. Bagwell, 512 U.S. 821, 114 S.Ct. 2552, 129 L.Ed.2d 642 (1994)

Maggio v. Zeitz, 333 U.S. 56, 68 S.Ct. 401, 92 L.Ed.2d 476 (1948) 17			
Oriel v. Russell, 278 U.S. 358, 49 S.Ct. 173, 73 L.Ed. 419 (1929) 17			
<u>Shillitani v. United States</u> , 384 U.S. 364, 86 S.Ct. 1531, 16 L.Ed.2d 622 (1966)			
<u>Strickland v. Washington</u> , 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)			
<u>Young v. United States ex rel. Vuitton et Fils, S.A.,</u> 481 U.S. 787, 107 S.Ct. 2124, 95 L.Ed.2d 740 (1987)			
United States Constitution			
U.S. Const. amend. VI			
Washington Constitution			
Wash. Const. art. I, § 22			
Statutes			
RCW 7.21.010			
RCW 26.09.191(1), (2)			

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

- 1. The trial court erred in creating a "purge" condition which Ms. Giroux was unable to satisfy, transforming the case from one of civil to criminal contempt.
- 2. The trial court denied Ms. Giroux due process in imposing a criminal contempt sanction without a criminal trial and the protections afforded an accused, including the proper filing of charges, effective counsel, and the right to a jury trial.

B. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>.

1. A contempt sanction remains civil in nature only so long as the contemnor retains the ability to purge the contempt and earn her release. Here, the court detailed two "purge" conditions: requiring Ms. Giroux to schedule a mental health assessment for herself, and requiring Ms. Giroux to transition her teenaged children to a different therapist who would initiate re-unification with their father. Ignoring Ms. Giroux's repeated pleas that she could not afford to schedule the mental health assessment and that she was extremely concerned about disrupting the continuity of the children's therapy, the court also disregarded the fact that once Ms. Giroux was incarcerated, she would be unable to achieve either of these tasks. This transformed the

imposition of jail time into a punitive, rather than a coercive, sanction.

Does the trial court's failure to construct a feasible purge condition require reversal of the contempt order?

2. A criminal contempt proceeding guarantees the accused a full range of due process protections. Here, Ms. Giroux faced a punitive, criminal contempt sanction, as she did not have the ability to satisfy the court's "purge condition." Ms. Giroux was not afforded the basic due process protections associated with criminal prosecution.

Does the trial court's failure to provide Ms. Giroux with the panoply of due process protections required in a criminal proceeding require reversal of the contempt order?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Anne Setsuko Giroux and Daniel Lance Kulman were divorced in 2008 and are subject to a parenting plan concerning their children, Kevin (17 ½) and Christin (15). CP 24-29. A history of domestic violence perpetrated by Mr. Kulman resulted in severe restrictions on his ability to see his children. CP 24-25; RCW 26,09,191(1), (2).

¹The Superior Court file corresponding to the divorce matter is No. 08-01158-4. Ms. Giroux's older daughter from a previous marriage, Kira (22), whom Mr. Kulman adopted, is not named in the modification to the parenting plan. CP 1-9.

In November 2012, Kevin experienced serious complications resulting from a pediatric heart condition, requiring surgery. CP 142-63. The Department of Social and Health Servies (DSHS) was concerned about Kevin's array of symptoms and Ms. Giroux's response to them, and placed a medical hold on Kevin, suggesting Ms. Giroux had influenced or even caused her son's physical symptoms. Id.; CP 1-9.²

On November 20, 2012, Mr. Kulman took advantage of the accusations against Ms. Giroux to move for modification of the parenting plan. CP 1-9. Mr. Kulman argued that his residential time was subject to severe restrictions under RCW 26.09.191(2), and that a substantial change in circumstances had occurred, in that Kevin was in danger of being removed from Ms. Giroux's home by DSHS. Id. Mr. Kulman also stated that he had completed domestic violence evaluations and treatment, as required by the court. Id.

Kevin unfortunately suffered ongoing cardiac symptoms while in DSHS custody, and while living with his paternal grandparents, requiring additional emergency treatment. CP 155. In light of the fact

²DSHS accused Ms. Giroux of Munchausen's by Proxy Syndrome – an accusation which was apparently retracted once Kevin's symptoms remained while in DSHS custody. <u>See</u> CP 142-63.

that Kevin's condition was unrelated to his mother's influence, both children were returned to Ms. Giroux's custody – Christin, within approximately ten days, and Kevin, within one month. CP 156. The dependency case against Ms. Giroux was deemed unfounded and was dismissed on February 12, 2013. CP 108.

On March 27, 2013, Pierce County Superior Court Commissioner Diana L. Kiesel issued an order related to the petition for modification to the parenting plan. CP 10-11. Among other requirements, the court ordered Ms. Giroux to enroll Kevin and Christin in counseling with a new therapist, and that Ms. Giroux obtain a mental health assessment.

Id. Ms. Giroux's motion to revise the order was denied on May 3, 2013. CP 12-14.

Ms. Giroux argued that the children were already engaged in therapy, and had expressed to their therapist their fear and anxiety concerning visitation with their father. CP 260 (letter from therapist). Kevin, who was almost 18, had also submitted a declaration to the

³ Commissioner Kiesel's March 27, 2013 order specifies that "Kevin's counseling shall be re-unification counseling from the beginning." CP 10. The order acknowledges that Christin is not ready to begin such specific counseling yet, and need not begin a reintroduction to her father until "such time as counselor and GAL agree [she] is ready to begin re-unification efforts with Dad." Id.

court, explaining his reluctance to have further contact with his father and his reasoning. CP 93-95 (declaration of Kevin Kulman).

On July 23, 2013, Mr. Kulman filed a motion for an order to show cause for contempt, alleging that Ms. Giroux had failed to comply with the Commissioner's order requiring the change in the children's counselor and the submission to a mental health assessment. CP 133-38.

Ms. Giroux argued that maintaining continuity of mental health care for her children was critical, and requiring the children to change therapists was not in their best interests. CP 253-61. Ms. Giroux also argued that she had been unable to comply with the court's order that she obtain a mental health assessment due to indigency. 5/31/13 RP 21-24. On each of the above dates, Ms. Giroux appeared *pro se*, while Mr. Kulman was represented by private counsel.

On November 21, 2013, Commissioner Kiesel appointed an attorney for Ms. Giroux, and then found her in contempt. 11/21/13 RP 2, 16; CP 265-71. The court found that Ms. Giroux had intentionally failed to comply with lawful orders of the court – specifically, that she had failed to submit to a mental health assessment, and had failed to

enroll the children in counseling with an approved provider.⁴ The order contains a "purge clause," by which Ms. Giroux might cure the contempt: "by scheduling her mental health assessment with collateral input from GAL and enrolling the children in counseling [with specified providers]." CP 268. The order specified that these conditions "shall be accomplished" by December 4, 2013. Id.

The contempt order also contains a handwritten "imprisonment" clause, which reads:

The court sentences Anne Giroux to an indeterminate jail sentence. The sentence is suspended until 12/4/13, if Anne Giroux does not pugrge [sic] contempt as set forth in par. 3.8 then she shall report to the Pierce County Jail on 12/4/13 at 4:00 PM. Bail will be \$500 cash only.

CP 268 (Sec. 3.2).⁵

On December 5, 2013, Ms. Giroux appeared in court, and Commissioner Kiesel found the contempt had not been purged. CP 273-74. The court found Ms. Giroux "still unwilling to comply with

⁴ In the order on the motion for revision, Judge Elizabeth Martin permitted the selection of a counseling provider by the GAL for insurance or availability purposes. CP 15.

⁵ The November 21 order indicated that the court would review the matter on December 5 at 3:30 p.m., and the jail would transport Ms. Giroux to court, if she were in custody. CP 280.

the court's order regarding re-unification counseling." <u>Id</u>.⁶ The matter was continued to December 10, 2013, for a review hearing, and Ms. Giroux was given the names of specific counselors on Mr. Kulman's insurance plan that would work toward re-unification of the children with their father. <u>Id</u>.

On December 10, 2013, the parties appeared for a review hearing. Ms. Giroux was assigned new counsel, at her request. 12/10/13 RP 2. The new attorney told Commissioner Kiesel that she had only had one conversation with Ms. Giroux. <u>Id</u>.

After Ms. Giroux informed the court that it was her understanding the children had not yet been taken to a new counselor, Mr. Kulman's attorney told the court, "I think that the Court needs to incarcerate Ms. Giroux at this point." <u>Id</u>. at 8. Mr. Kulman's attorney urged Commissioner Kiesel, "I think we need to order a night of incarceration." <u>Id</u>. at 9. The court ultimately ordered:

Based upon a finding of civil contempt Anne Giroux shall be incarcerated in the Pierce County Jail on 12/10/13 for one day. There shall be a review hearing on 12/11/13 at 2:30 PM. The Pierce County Jail shall transport Anne Giroux to Courtroom

⁶Ms. Giroux was not transported to court by the Pierce County Jail on December 5th, but was at liberty -- despite her failure to comply with the court order -- as she had made \$500 cash bail. 12/5/13 RP 6. The court reserved as to whether her bail money could be disbursed as attorney's fees for Mr. Kulman's lawyer. Id.

105 at 2:30 if bail has not been paid. Bail shall be set at \$1,000 cash only.

CP 267-68.

Ms. Giroux was, in fact, sentenced and incarcerated, pursuant to the court's order. 12/10/13 RP 13. Before ruling, the court and Ms. Giroux had the following exchange:

THE COURT: I have given you more chances than any litigant I

can recall to comply with my order ...

MS. GIROUX: It's not about chances, Your Honor. It's about

safety.

THE COURT: I'm sorry, but I have to incarcerate you, so I am

incarcerating you right now. The bail will be \$1,000, and we will have a review on – I guess it

has to be tomorrow.

12/10/13 RP 13.

On December 11, 2013, a review hearing was held, and the court ordered Ms. Giroux's release. CP 288-91; 12/11/13 RP 9. The court conditioned Ms. Giroux's release on her scheduling the mental health assessment and that she permit the GAL to interview the children. Id.⁷

⁷Ms. Giroux, upon her release, complained that her attorney had been unprepared and that her due process rights had been violated. 12/11/13 RP 4-5, 14. The court responded, "You have had more due process than any litigant I've dealt with." <u>Id</u>. at 5.

Ms. Giroux appeals the contempt findings and sanctions. CP 276-82.8

D. ARGUMENT

1. THE PURGE CONDITION IN THE CONTEMPT ORDER IGNORED MS. GIROUX'S INABILITY TO COMPLY WITH THE ORDER, TRANSFORMING THE FINDING OF CONTEMPT INTO A PUNITIVE SANCTION.

A "punitive sanction" is "a sanction imposed to punish a past contempt of court for the purpose of upholding the authority of the court." RCW 7.21.010(2). A "remedial sanction" is "a sanction imposed for the purpose of coercing performance when the contempt consists of the omission or refusal to perform an act that is yet in the person's power to perform." RCW 7.21.010(3).

State v. Hobble, 126 Wn.2d 283, 292, 892 P.2d 85 (1995). Here, the court's findings – that Ms. Giroux had the past ability to comply with the court order and did not do so, demonstrates the contempt sanction was criminal in nature as it punished her for her purported past failure to comply with the court order.

Washington courts recognize three separate grounds upon which a court may rely in exercising its contempt authority: (1) civil

⁸ The November 21, 2013 order on show cause issued by the Superior Court also awarded attorney's fees to Mr. Kulman; Ms. Giroux does not specifically assign error to the amount of the fees. CP 276-82.

contempt; (2) criminal contempt; and (3) the court's inherent contempt authority. State v. Boatman, 104 Wn.2d 44, 46, 700 P.2d 1152 (1985).

The character of a contempt proceeding is determined by its purpose and the purpose of the sanction imposed. State v. Browet, Inc., 103 Wn.2d 215, 218, 691 P.2d 571 (1984) (citing Shillitani v. United States, 384 U.S. 364, 86 S.Ct. 1531, 16 L.Ed.2d 622 (1966); State v. Sanchez, 4 Wn.2d 432, 104 P.2d 464 (1940)). Where the purpose of a proceeding is punitive and results in a determinate jail sentence, with no opportunity for a defendant to purge himself of the contempt, the proceeding and the resulting contempt are criminal in nature. Browet, 103 Wn.2d at 218 (citing In re Parent, 112 Wn. 620, 192 P. 947 (1920); Shillitani, supra). In contrast, a proceeding which results in a coercive or remedial sanction is civil, as is the contempt itself. Browet, 103 Wn.2d at 218 (citing Arnold v. National Union of Marine Cooks & Stewards Ass'n, 41 Wn.2d 22, 246 P.2d 1107 (1952); Shillitani, 384 U.S. at 370). Where a contempt proceeding is civil, no jury is required since the sanction is simply coercive. Browet, 103 Wn.2d at 218.

Over the years, the distinctions have become somewhat obscured. State v. Heiner, 29 Wn.App. 193, 195, 627 P.2d 983 (1981). Nonetheless, whatever the type of contempt authority, the sanction

imposed by the court is limited by the requirements of due process.

See § E. 2., infra.

Trial courts retain the inherent authority to "enforce compliance with their own orders through civil contempt." Shillitani, 384 U.S. at 370-71. Due process, however, will not permit a court to rely on its inherent contempt authority to impose a criminal or punitive contempt sanction absent a criminal trial. In re the Interests of M.B., et al, 101 Wn. App. 425, 453, 3 P.3d 780 (2000), rev. denied, 142 Wn.2d 1027 (2001) (citing In re King, 110 Wn.2d 793, 800, 756 P.2d 1303 (1988)). The Shillitani Court recognized a contempt sanction can meet the requirements of due process in one of two ways: 1) a coercive and conditional contempt sanction where the contemnor may earn his release merely through compliance with the original order or 2) a punitive sanction imposed following a criminal trial. 384 U.S. at 370-72.

A contempt sanction is considered civil when "it is conditional and indeterminate, i.e., where the contemnor carries the keys of the prison door in his own pocket and can let himself out by simply obeying the court order." King, 110 Wn.2d at 800; In re Marriage of Didier, 134 Wn. App. 490, 501-02, 140 P.3d 607 (2006) (finding

contempt order punitive). So long as the contemnor retains the ability to purge the contempt and earn his or her release, his contempt sanction is civil. Shillitani, 384 U.S. at 370 n.6. In contrast, criminal contempt, as a punitive sanction, may be determinate and need not provide the contemnor with the ability to purge the contempt.

In <u>Shillitani</u>, two individuals refused to testify before a grand jury despite a grant of immunity from prosecution. 384 U.S. at 365. The Court concluded the two could be confined until they agreed to testify, as the confinement sought to coerce their compliance with the court's order to testify and, because they could choose at any time to comply with the order and testify, the sanction remained civil. <u>Id</u>. at 371. The Court, however, noted that once the grand jury was discharged, the court could no longer keep the two in jail absent a criminal proceeding, since, by that time, the contemnors had "no further opportunity to purge [themselves] of contempt." <u>Id</u>. at 371-72.

A civil contempt order must contain a purge clause by which the contemnor has the ability to avoid a finding of contempt or incarceration for non-compliance. <u>Didier</u>, 134 Wn. App. at 501-02; <u>State ex rel Shafer v. Bloomer</u>, 94 Wn. App. 246, 253, 973 P.2d 1062 (1999); <u>see also Pompey v. Cochran</u>, 685 So. 2d 1007, 1013 (Fla. Dist.

Ct. App. 1997) (where contemnor "is jailed without a purge condition that is within his power to accomplish, the sentence transforms into one for criminal contempt without having been preceded by any of the necessary constitutional safeguards").

In <u>Didier</u>, the trial court held the father in contempt for failure to comply with the court's child support order. 134 Wn. App. at 500. On appeal, this Court closely examined the language of the purge condition in the lower court's contempt order, distinguishing between terms meant to coerce compliance with a court order, and terms that are strictly punitive. <u>Id</u>. at 503. Specifically, the <u>Didier</u> Court noted, "the use of the term 'sentenced' suggests the court's punitive thinking here." <u>Id</u>.

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