FILED  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION II

2014 SEP -9 AM 10:25

STATE OF WASHINGTON  
BX  
RESPONDENT

45722-9-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION II

---

DANIEL KULMAN,  
Respondent,

v.

ANNE GIROUX,  
Appellant.

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

DANIEL N. COOK  
Attorney for Respondents  
Faubion Reeder Fraley & Cook PS  
5920 100th St SW Ste 25  
Lakewood, WA, 98499-2751

**ORIGINAL**

##

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

### **III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The imposition of an indeterminate jail sentence was coercive and within the court's discretion because Anne Giroux always had the opportunity to purge her contempt. The Court found Anne Giroux in contempt and found that incarceration was an appropriate sanction, but did not immediately confine her. The Court suspended the incarceration in the

original order of contempt and provided Anne Giroux an opportunity, free from actual confinement, to purge the contempt over the course of two weeks and two review hearings. Anne Giroux voluntarily choose to continue willfully and intentionally violating the court order after the finding of contempt and eventually was confined for one night in jail after the second review hearing. But the incarceration was absolutely coercive because it was an attempt by the Court to compel compliance with the court order Anne Giroux was continuing to intentionally violate.

The incarceration was only ordered after many opportunities for compliance had been provided. The incarceration was only ordered after Anne Giroux had delayed and manipulated the judicial process to avoid compliance with the order for months. The confinement was reviewed the very next day after Contemnor was confined in jail and the Court released Contemnor giving her another opportunity to purge the contempt.

Under these circumstances the incarceration was absolutely coercive in nature and was an appropriate exercise of the court's discretion.

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

##### **A. Anne Giroux Did Not Assign Error to the Underlying Facts Supporting The Court's Finding of Contempt**

Issues to which an appellant does not assign error are treated as verities on appeal. *Francis v. Washington State Dept. of Corrections* 178 Wash.App. 42, 52, 313 P.3d 457, 462 (Div. 2, 2013); *Davis v. Dep't of*

*Labor & Indus.*, 94 Wash.2d 119, 123, 615 P.2d 1279 (1980). Here, Anne Giroux assigns error only to the trial court's order of incarceration. Anne Giroux argues that while she was incarcerated she could not comply with the court's order and this "transformed the imposition of jail time into a punitive, rather than coercive, sanction." See, *Appellant's Opening Brief*, page 1-2. Anne Giroux did not assign error to the underlying findings. Specifically, Anne Giroux did not assign error to the following:

The finding that Anne Giroux intentionally failed to comply with lawful orders of the court. CP 266 (Par. 2.1).

The finding that the order(s) Anne Giroux violated related to parenting plans, i.e., custody and visitation. CP 266 (Par. 2.2).

The finding that the violation of the order(s) consisted of Anne Giroux's failure to obtain a mental health assessment of herself and her failure to engage the children in counseling with specifically designated providers. CP 266-267 (Par. 2.3).

The finding that Anne Giroux **had the past ability** to comply with the order by obtaining a mental health assessment of herself and by engaging the children in counseling with specifically designated providers. CP 267 (Par. 2.4).

The finding that Anne Giroux **had the present** ability to comply with the order by obtaining a mental health assessment of herself and by engaging the children in counseling with specifically designated providers. CP 267 (Par. 2.5).

The finding that Anne Giroux **did not have the present willingness** to comply with the order. CP 267 (Par. 2.5).

The Order that Anne Giroux was in contempt of court. CP 268 (Par. 3.1).

Anne Giroux did not assign error to any of findings or the order that she was in contempt. Anne Giroux's first, and primary, Assignment of Error is to the "purge" condition set by the court. See, *Appellant's Opening Brief*, page 1. The issue Anne Giroux presents on appeal is whether "the trial court's failure to construct a feasible purge condition require reversal of the contempt order". *Id* at page 2. Anne Giroux argues: "the contempt sanction was criminal in nature as it punished her for past failure" and "[b]ecause Ms. Giroux did not have the ability to comply with the purge condition, the sanction was punitive in nature, requiring compliance with due process protections as set forth below." *Id* at page 9 and 15. There is no argument or citation to the record that Anne Giroux could not comply with the order,<sup>2</sup> other than her argument

---

<sup>2</sup> In fact, Anne Giroux acknowledges and cites the court's finding that she had the prior ability to comply with the order. *Opening Brief of Appellant* at page 9.



incarceration created a condition making compliance impossible; therefore appellate review is limited to that issue. *Matter of Estate of Lint* 135 Wash.2d 518, 532, 957 P.2d 755, 762 (1998) (“If we were to ignore the rule requiring counsel to direct argument to specific findings of fact which are assailed and to cite to relevant parts of the record as support for that argument, we would be assuming an obligation to comb the record with a view toward constructing arguments for counsel as to what findings are to be assailed and why the evidence does not support these findings. This we will not and should not do.”).

Hence, for purposes of this appeal it is accepted as true that Anne Giroux had the past and present ability to comply with the court’s orders regarding parenting plan. It is accepted as true that Anne Giroux was in contempt for willful and intentional violation of the lawful court orders. The only issue<sup>3</sup> before the court is whether the purge condition ordered by the court transformed the contempt from “civil” to “punitive” contempt.

## **B. Standard of Review**

A trial court's decision in a contempt proceeding is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *In re Marriage of James*, 79 Wn.App. 436, 440, 903 P.2d 470 (1995); *Moreman v. Butcher*, 126 Wn.2d 36, 40, 891 P.2d 725

---

<sup>3</sup> Anne Giroux also assigns error to the trial court’s “failure to provide Ms. Giroux with the panoply of due process protections required in a criminal proceeding”. *Opening Brief of Appellant* at pages 1-2. Daniel Kulman acknowledges at least one of the protections required in **criminal** contempt proceedings (i.e., a jury trial) were not afforded; however, this protection was not necessary because the contempt was coercive, or civil, in nature. Anne Giroux does not argue she was not provided the due process protections required in a **civil** contempt proceeding.

(1995). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable, or is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. *In re Marriage of Mathews*, 70 Wash.App. 116, 126, 853 P.2d 462, review denied, 122 Wash.2d 1021, 863 P.2d 1353 (1993); *In re Marriage of James*, 79 Wash.App. 436, 440, 903 P.2d 470, 472 (1995); *State v. Bible*, 77 Wn.App. 470, 471, 892 P.2d 116 (1995); *State v. Rundquist*, 79 Wn.App. 786, 793, 905 P.2d 922 (1995).

The appellate court does not weigh conflicting evidence or substitute judgment for the trial court. *In re Marriage of Rich*, 80 Wn.App. 252, 259, 907 P.2d 1234 (1996). A trial court's challenged factual findings regarding contempt will be upheld on appeal if they are supported by substantial evidence. *In re Marriage of Rideout*, 150 Wn.2d 337, 350, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003); *In re Marriage of Thomas*, 63 Wn.App. 658, 660, 821 P.2d 1227, 1228 (1991). Evidence is substantial if it persuades a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the finding. *In re Marriage of Spreen*, 107 Wn. App. 341, 346, 28 P.3d 769 (2001).

### **C. Statutory Authority of Contempt and Incarceration as a Sanction**

Contempt proceedings may be initiated under the domestic relations statute when a parent has, in bad faith, not complied with the order establishing residential provisions for the child. RCW 26.09.160(2)(b); *In re Marriage of James*, 79 Wn.App. 436, 440, 903 P.2d 470 (1995). The party moving for contempt has the burden of proving contempt by a preponderance of the evidence, by providing evidence that the offending party “acted in bad faith or

engaged in intentional misconduct or that prior sanctions have not secured compliance with the plan.” *Id.* at 442. Here, Daniel Kulman did invoke RCW 26.09.160 as one basis of his request for a finding of contempt. CP at 134.

Statutory contempt can also be found under RCW 7.21. Daniel Kulman also invoked RCW 7.21 as a basis of his request for a finding of contempt. CP at 134.

Contempt of court under RCW 7.21 occurs when, among other things, a litigant intentionally disobeys “any lawful judgment, decree, order, or process of the court.” RCW 7.21.010. Contempt under RCW 7.21 is characterized as either remedial or punitive.<sup>4</sup> The court imposes a remedial or civil sanction for “the purpose of coercing performance.” RCW 7.21.010(3). The court imposes a punitive, or criminal, sanction “to punish a past contempt of court for the purpose of upholding the authority of the court.” RCW 7.21.010(2).

Contempt is also characterized as direct and indirect. A direct contempt is an act observed or heard by the judge in the courtroom. Direct contempt is subject to summary punitive sanctions without the criminal due process protections. RCW 7.21.050. The contempt in this case was indirect and not punishable summarily.

An action to impose a punitive sanction for contempt may be initiated only by the filing of a complaint or information. RCW 7.21 .040(2)(a). As

---

<sup>4</sup> Formerly statutory contempt in Washington was characterized as civil or criminal. See *State v. Boatman*, 104 Wn.2d 44, 700 P.2d 1152 (1985). The contempt statutes were rewritten in 1989 to focus on the sanction imposed and the words ‘remedial’ and ‘punitive’ replaced ‘civil’ and ‘criminal.’ Chapter 7.21 RCW; Laws of 1989, ch. 373, sec.1.

argued extensively by Appellant Anne Giroux in her opening brief, a defendant in a punitive contempt action is entitled to heightened due process protections, including a trial by jury. *State v. John*, 69 Wn.App. 615, 849 P.2d 1268 (1993).

Both contempt statutes authorize incarceration as a sanction. RCW 26.09.160(2)(iii) authorizes imprisonment up to 180 days for contempt related to violating a parenting plan/custody order. RCW 7.21.030(2)(a) authorizes imprisonment for “so long as it serves a coercive purpose” without a specific limitation on the number of days which may be served for general civil contempt.

**D. The Trial Court’s Action Was Not An Abuse of Discretion Because the Incarceration Was Coercive**

The sanctions for civil contempt are intended to be remedial. The purpose of the contempt statute is to coerce, not to punish. *State v. Horton*, 54 Wn.App. 837, 840, 776 P.2d 703, 704 (1989). The distinction between remedial and punitive purposes is essential and it is possible for an unsuccessful remedial sanction to eventually lose its remedial purpose:

A coercive sanction is justified only on the theory that it will induce a specific act that the court has the right to coerce. Therefore, should it become clear that the civil sanction will not produce the desired result, the justification for the civil sanction disappears. Further incarceration can be justified as a punishment for disobeying the court's orders, but only after a criminal proceeding.

*Interest of M.B.*, 101 Wn.App. 425, 440, 3 P.3d 780 (2000).

**1. Anne Giroux's conduct in the entire proceeding was manipulative and obstructionist**

To determine whether a contempt sanction is coercive or punitive the court must examine the substance of the proceeding and the character of the relief that the proceeding afforded. *King v. Department of Social and Health Services* 110 Wash.2d 793, 799, 756 P.2d 1303, 1307 (1988).

In this case, Anne Giroux's delay tactics and abuse of the court system was manifest. Anne Giroux filed a motion to recuse and remand to jurisdiction of US District Court. CP 210-230. Anne Giroux filed a motion to strike, vacate and sanctions pursuant to the Washington anti-SLAP statute. CP 45-92. Anne Giroux filed a motion to dismiss after adequate cause had already been established in this case. CP 113 – 128. Anne Giroux filed a motion to vacate the order requiring her to obtain a mental health assessment and counseling for the children after adequate cause had been established and after that order had already been upheld by the trial court on her motion for revision. CP 142 – 201. Anne Giroux filed a motion to dismiss Daniel Kulman's primary witnesses. CP 16-44. Anne Giroux filed a motion for Judge Orland to recuse himself after already executing an affidavit of prejudice against a prior judge. CP 231 - 240. These were frivolous motions without any legal basis and were for the purpose of delay and obstruction. Finally the court issued a

moratorium on Anne Giroux filing non-emergency motions. CP 262-264.

Anne Giroux filed a motion to continue trial date but the court would not consider the motion to continue trial without a status report from Anne Giroux on getting the court ordered mental health assessment and beginning reunification counseling for the children and father. CP 295-301. A hearing was set to review Anne Giroux's progress in complying with the court order but Anne Giroux exercised an affidavit of prejudice on the last business day prior to the hearing on her progress. CP 130-132. In this manner Anne Giroux was able to obtain her requested continuance of trial date without the review hearing on her progress and compliance with the court ordered mental health assessment and reunification counseling. CP 267-269.

**2. The incarceration as a contempt sanction was coercive because it was imposed to benefit the opposing party and children in this case and not to vindicate the authority of the court.**

After Anne Giroux filed multiple baseless motions and used an affidavit of prejudice to avoid a hearing on her progress and obtain a continuance of trial, Daniel Kulman moved for contempt under both RCW 26.09.160(2) and RCW 7.21. The court found Anne Giroux in contempt and that Anne Giroux has not assigned error to that finding. Anne Giroux argues the sanction of incarceration should be reversed because the incarceration was punitive, not coercive, and she did not receive the benefit of the heightened due

process protections required for punitive contempt. **Anne Giroux's appeal fails because the incarceration ordered in this case was coercive.** It was not a punitive sanction for direct or criminal contempt and the trial court should be affirmed.

A remedial or coercive contempt sanction is typically imposed for the benefit of another party. *King* at 800. In this case the sanction of incarceration was coercive because the sanction was imposed to benefit Daniel Kulman and the children at issue. The children's with Daniel Kulman was extremely strained and the strain was caused by Anne Giroux's abusive use of conflict. CP at 134. The children's counseling, with a new counselor untainted by the mother, was to benefit the children's relationship with Daniel Kulman and reduce the harmful impact of the mother's abusive use of conflict. CP 136-137. The mental health assessment of Anne Giroux could identify whether Anne's abuse use of conflict originated from a mental health disorder and whether any treatment could be ordered to minimize Anne's abusive use of conflict in parenting the children. The mental health assessment would identify potential personality disorders which led to Anne falsely identifying herself as a victim and falsely accusing Daniel of being an abuser. The court's order to incarcerate Anne to compel compliance with the order for counseling and a mental health assessment was coercive because it was for the benefit of Daniel Kulman and

the children and not for the purpose of vindicating the authority of the court.

*King*, at 800.

**3. The incarceration as a contempt sanction was coercive because Anne Giroux always had the opportunity to avoid jail by complying with the order.**

A remedial or coercive contempt sanction must provide regular opportunities for the contemnor to purge contempt and obtain release from incarceration. This element is best summarized as follows:

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